IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-KA-01761-COA

TIMOTHY JORDAN

APPELLANT

V.

1 S. S.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS George T. Holmes, MSB Normality 301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210 Jackson MS 39201 601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-KA-01761-COA

TIMOTHY JORDAN

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO.1:	WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ALLOWED IMPROPER LEGAL OPINIONS WHICH WERE COMMENTS ON EVIDENCE AND WITNESS VERACITY?
ISSUE NO. 2:	WHETHER JORDAN WAS PREJUDICED BY AMENDMENTS TO THE SECOND SUPERCEDING INDICTMENT?
ISSUE NO. 3:	DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING JORDAN A SEPARATE TRIAL?
ISSUE NO. 4:	WAS THE TENDER YEARS EXCEPTION PROPERLY APPLIED?
ISSUE NO. 5:	WHETHER THE VERDICT IS CONTRARY TO THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Lafayette County, Mississippi where Timothy Jordan was convicted of four counts of sexual battery, one count of gratification of lust and one count of child neglect. A jury trial was conducted September 29, 2008 to October 7, 2008, with Honorable Andrew Howorth, Circuit Judge, presiding. Jordan was sentenced four terms of life imprisonment concurrent plus two ten years terms for the gratification and neglect convictions, concurrent with each other, but consecutive to the life terms. Jordan is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

In the Fall of 2005, Tim Jordan, age 38, was a logger in Lafayette County. [T. 538, 979-80]. His wife Krystal, age 29, stayed at home and used drugs, "cocaine, methamphetamine, marijuana" and Lortab.¹ [Ex. 1; T. 533, 538-44]. Krystal and Tim had two children, a newborn Sabrina and a four-year old Brianna. [T. 533-35]. There was an older boy of Krystal's, born of a different father, living with them as well. *Id*.

In addition to her drug use, Krystal spent her spare time having sex with a number of men in the community including co-defendants Glenn Grose and Johnny Grose and another man named Tony Rakestraw. [T. 395, 538-44]. At one point Tim Jordan had to go get Krystal from "deer camp" where he found her drunk and riding a four wheeler with another man. [T. 987-88]. Krystal was spending so much time at the Grose brothers', she eventually moved in with them around October 2005 and Tim Jordan followed her. [T. 988].

Krystal was having sexual relations with both Johnny and Glenn and obtaining drugs in trade. [T. 544]. John Grose was crippled by rheumatoid arthritis and spent all his time in a wheelchair. [T. 556].

On October 20, 2005, Rhiannon Shaw, a Department of Human Services "family protection specialist" in Lafayette County received a report about "possible abuse and neglect" at the home of Krystal and Tim Jordan. [T. 393-94]. Ms. Shaw determined that Krystal and Tim were actually staying with the Grose brothers at their trailer. *Id.*

Shaw paid a visit, met the four people staying at the Grose brothers' trailer and observed the two girls. [T. 395-98; Ex. 1]. There was a brief conversation with Brianna. *Id.* Ms. Shaw

¹ Lortab is a brand name for a combination of hydrocodone and acetaminophen.

perceived possible indicators of neglect and heavy drinking. Id. Drug use was a concern also. Id.

Five days later on October 25, 2005, Ms. Shaw received a report that Krystal Jordan had been arrested in a "domestic altercation". [T. 400, 499; Ex. 1]. On October 26, 2005, Shaw found Brianna being baby-sat by Tim Jordan's niece. [T. 401; Ex. 1]. Upon her arrival, Brianna was squatting in the yard with her pants down. *Id*.

On October 31, 2005, Shaw found out Krystal Jordan was committed to the state hospital at Whitfield for drug and alcohol rehabilitation and the Jordan children were with Krystal's grandmother Martha Grose. [T. 402, 499-500, 752-53;Ex. 1]. Martha Grose and her daughter Gloria Hollis (Krystal's mom) informed Shaw that Brianna had some "potty training" issues, her bottom was red and Brianna was saying things about people "touching her", specifically Glenn Grose, Johnny Grose, Tim Jordan and Krystal Jordan, and others. [T. 402-04,499-500, 752-53; Ex. 1]. Shaw scheduled a "forensic interview" and medical exam both for November 3, 2005. *Id*.

The forensic interview was conducted by a third person with Shaw observing. *Id.* In the forensic interview, which was video-taped, Brianna allegedly made conflicting accusations, depending on interpretation, that "Tim" and "Kristy" and "Glenn" and "Johnny" all touched her "nunu". [T. 405-10; Exs.2-3]. Brianna also accused her grandmother of touching or hurting her and made further accusation of people hurting her with a knife, though no knife injuries were found. [T. 421-23; 466-67]. Brianna basically accused everyone who got mentioned in the interview of hurting or touching her. [T. 424]. Contrarily, Brianna also said that her father Tim Jordan did not hurt her and touched her "nowhere". [T. 425, 468]. There was a "provisional" transcript of the interview introduced as Ex. 7. [T. 449-50].

The technique of Brianna's November 3, 2005, forensic interview was seriously

criticized by a state expert who found the interview very problematic. [T. 454-57]. Specifically, follow up questions were not properly handled in the interview and there were many many leading questions. [T. 896, 900]. The interviewer also did not always give Brianna opportunity to answer. [T. 455-56].

The interviewer kept introducing people into scenarios, which was simply wrong. [T. 462]. The interviewer also lumped people together in questions which was an inappropriate technique.[T. 464-65]. Little if any effort was made to clear up Brianna's numerous inconsistencies. *Id.*

Oxford pediatrician Tanya King, M. D., examined Brianna after the forensic interview. [T. 712; Ex. 11]. No allegations were made during the exam. [T. 714].

Brianna's medical exam was fine until her genitalia were examined. [T. 718]. Brianna's vaginal area was bruised. [T. 719-20]. The hymen was intact, but bruised. [T. 721]. Brianna's anus was dilated from what Dr. King termed "multiple penetrations" and might have been the "worst she had ever seen." [T. 723, 728]. There were no signs of acute trauma. [T. 735].

Even though Martha Grose and Gloria Hollis said Brianna experienced pain urinating, Dr. King's notes indicate "denies urinary pain or difficulty". [Ex. 11]. Dr. King's notes indicate that Brianna was "well nourished" in "no distress", and contrary to some of the therapist testimony, Dr. King described Brianna's interaction as "appropriate" as were her "mood and affect." [Ex. 11].

A counselor, Robin Smith, started working on Brianna's case in February 2006 and provided, in much detail, Brianna's alleged behavioral aberrations which Smith opined to be consistent with an abused child. [T. 38-41, 803-13]. Brianna had been sent for several periods of in-house psychiatric treatment complete with medication for her emotional problems. [T. 47-49]. Throughout her therapy, Brianna had made accusations against Glenn and Johnny Grose, Tim and Krystal Jordan, and others. [T. 50-51].

Tim Jordan put on evidence that no one was aware of any possible problems with Brianna before Martha Grose and Gloria Hollis made there report to DHS. A nurse practitioner who had treated Brianna said everything about the child appeared normal. [T. 904]. There were no signs of sexual abuse. *Id.* Tim Jordan's mother said Brianna was a normal girl. [T. 934]. She noticed no problems. [T. 938]. Tim Jordan's niece who babysat Brianna said there were no problems. [T. 948-49]. Tim Jordan's sister who lived next door observed no problems with Brianna , no complaints, no inappropriate or abnormal behavior. [T. 967-71]. Jordan denied all inappropriate contact with Brianna. [T. 1002-1003, 1011]. Dr. Ed Morris a Tupelo psychologist described Brianna as a normal 4 year old at the time of her forensic interview. [T. 893].

Krystal did not let incarceration interfere with her manipulation of and contact with Tim Jordan and the two Grose brothers. She corresponded all three men from jail, espousing their innocence. [T. 576-78, 583 ; Exs. D-2, D-3, D-4, D-5, D-9, D-10, S-15, D-13ID]. Krystal wrote to Tim, "I don't know who did this shit to Brianna". [Ex. D-2]. In Exhibit S-15, Glenn Grose wrote to Krystal, he calls Tim Jordan a liar and said, "[i]f you know if Tim Jordan did that to Brianna ... you need to tell them because they're saying I did it." followed by "I'll help you if you help me." *Id.* Krystal visited Glenn Grose in jail 3 to 4 times. [T. 1114].

Nevertheless, behind everybody's back, Krystal made a deal to testify, and did, against the three men. [T.662-70]. In exchange for her testimony, testimony that included the admission that she prostituted her four year old daughter for drugs, held her daughter so men, including Tim

Jordan, could have sex with her, drugged her daughter with pain killers, and showed her daughter how to perform oral sex, Krystal was sentenced to twenty years with ten suspended. [T. 546-62,597; Ex. D-6]. Krystal had also been charged with sexual battery against her grandmother, which charge was dropped *quid pro quo* for her testimony at the subject trial. [T. 695].

The state's theory as to the dates alleged in the amended second superceding indictment were estimated because Krystal was pregnant during the episodes and the subsequent child, Sabrina, was born May 23, 2005. [T. 537, 980]. There was testimony that another person named Henry Grose was caught under the covers with Brianna, but Brianna never mentioned this person apparently. [T. 503, 1001].

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court allowed Krystal Jordan's lawyer to testify and give unqualified legal opinions, vouch for the veracity of her client and comment on the evidence against the remaining codefendants. Amendments to a second superceding indictment rendered it fatally defective. There should have been a severance of defendants for separate trials. The tender years exception to the hearsay rule was misapplied circumventing Tim Jordan's confrontation rights. The verdict was not supported by the weight of the evidence.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ALLOWED IMPROPER LEGAL OPINIONS WHICH WERE COMMENTS ON EVIDENCE AND WITNESS VERACITY?

In an unusual move, the state offered the testimony of Krystal Jordan's attorney Hon. Cordelia Fondren who, over objection, went to great lengths describing how Krystal Jordan's decided to plead guilty and testify. [T. 662-83]. The objectionable testimony included Ms. Fondren's assessment of the evidence against all of the defendants. *Id.* Ms. Fondren testimony to the jury included opinions and commentary on the quality and quantity of evidence against all of the defendants and on the veracity of the witnesses. Ms. Fondren was not tendered or qualified, in the evidentiary sense, as an expert.

Tim Jordan's trial counsel objected to hearsay and on the grounds that Ms. Fondren's testimony constituted improper opinions and commentary on witnesses and the weight of the evidence and were acutely prejudicial. *Id.* A motion for mistrial was argued and denied. [T. 697-99].

Ms. Fondren's described how it was her duty to assess the evidence in deciding whether to recommend or approve a plea of guilty. [T. 662-83]. After Krystal initial denied involvement, Ms. Fondren described how Krystal "opened up" and how Ms. Fondren became "comfortable with that", saying, "Krystal and I talked extensively … I questioned her extensively to try to get an idea if what she was saying to me was credible. I was comfortable after talking to her about that, that she understood and that she was to the best of her knowledge telling me what she recalled." [T. 669].

7

Later, after reciting the allegations of the criminal information, Ms. Fondren was asked, "and were you satisfied as her counsel that there were grounds for the entry of the plea of guilty?" [T. 672-73]. An objection was overruled, and an affirmative reply was made, "Yes. After I talked with Krystal again about the aspect of aiding and abetting and her part legally, I was comfortable that she understood her liabilities were." *Id*.

After that, Ms. Fondren went count by count through Krystal's criminal information stating how Krystal was "justified" in pleading guilty to helping the other defendants commit sexual battery against Brianna. [T. 673-74]. Ms. Fondren, without being qualified as a legal expert nor as a "professional lie-detector", basically was allowed to tell the jury that Krystal was telling the truth, or at a minimum, that the evidence was there to convict all four defendants.

In *Hart v. State*, 637 So.2d 1329, 1338-40 (Miss.1994), the trial court excluded a psychologist's "opinion that the defendant had acted reasonably" and "justifiably in self-defense." On appeal, the Supreme Court ratified the trial court's exclusion on the basis that the opinion "invaded the province of the jury" and was "an opinion on the ultimate issue" and an invalid opinion and inadmissible "legal conclusion as to the defendant's state of mind." *Id*.

As held in *Hobgood v. State*, 926 So.2d 847, 854 (Miss.2006), it is permissible, under certain circumstances, to "allow testimony as to the *credibility* of a child-abuse victim," but not testimony as to the *veracity* of any witness. *Id.* at 854. See also *Smith v. State*, 925 So. 2d 825, 834-35 (Miss. 2006).

Under Miss. R. Evid Rule 704, "[t]estimony in the form of an opinion or inference otherwise admissible is not objectionable because it embraces an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact." Yet as stated in *May v. State*, 524 So.2d 957, 964 (Miss.1988), "[e]very expert

opinion embracing the ultimate fact is not *per se* admissible, however". Testimony "which simply allow the witness to tell the jury what result to reach are impermissible, as are questions asking the witness for a legal conclusion." *Id*.

It should be noted that Federal Rule of Evidence 704(b) states:

(b) No expert witness testifying with respect to the mental state or condition of a defendant in a criminal case may state an opinion or inference as to whether the defendant did or did not have the mental state or condition constituting an element of the crime charged or of a defense thereto. Such ultimate issues are matters for the trier of fact alone.

The prejudice to Tim Jordan was that the jury heard an opinion from a lawyer that Krystal's co-defendants were guilty and that Krystal was telling the truth and was, therefore, justified in pleading as a aider and abettor. This prejudicial testimony is clearly prohibited by the rules and case law. Accordingly, Tim Jordan asks respectfully for a new trial.

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER JORDAN WAS PREJUDICED BY AMENDMENTS TO THE SECOND SUPERCEDING INDICTMENT?

As initially returned in February 2006, the indictment in this case had four defendants and seven counts. [R. 1-4]. The first superceding indictment, returned in November 2006, had eight counts, three defendants. [R. 14-18]. In March 2008 there was a second superceding indictment with thirty three (33) counts, three defendants; then, during trial, the second superceding indictment was amended *twice* on the state's motions with orders entered. [R. 33-44, 59-69; [T. 919-27].

The first inter-trial amendment changed the occurrence dates of all the counts, while the second inter-trial amendment was to charge Glenn Grose as an habitual offender. [R. 199-201; T.

1161]. Both of these amendments prejudiced Tim Jordan as will be shown below.

<u>Count</u>	<u>Charge</u>	Alleged Occurrence Dates	
1	Sexual Battery	March 2005	
2	Gratification of Lust	March 2005	
3	Sexual Battery	April 2005	
4	Gratification of Lust	April 2005	
5	Sexual Battery	May 2005	
6	Gratification of Lust	May 2005	
7	Sexual Battery	June 2005	
8	Gratification of Lust	June 2005	
9	Sexual Battery	July 2005	
10	Gratification of Lust	July 2005	
11	Sexual Battery	August 2005	
12	Gratification of Lust	August 2005	
13	Sexual Battery	September 2005	
14	Gratification of Lust	September 2005	
15	Sexual Battery	October 2005	
16	Gratification of Lust	October 2005	
33	Felony child Neglect	March 1 to October 31, 2005	[R. 33-44].

The second superceding indictment initially charged Tim Jordan as follows:

At the close of the state's case, the prosecutor asked the trial court to change the occurrence dates in Counts 1 through 8 to "March through May 2005" and in Counts 9 and 10 to changed the dates to "May through October 2005" and to dismiss counts 11 through 16. [T. 919-27; R. 59-68]. The trial court obliged. *Id.*

The result was that Counts 1, 3, 5, and 7 were all identical, as were Counts 2, 4, 6, and 8. *Id.* The record shows there was never a verdict or dismissal of counts 2, 4, 6, 8. Arguably, the gratification of lust charges would have merged into the sexual battery charges under *Friley v. State*, 879 So.2d 1031, 1034-35 (Miss. 2004), ["[a] plain reading of the statutes shows that sexual battery (penetration) includes molestation (touching). It is impossible to penetrate without touching."].

Tim Jordan respectfully suggests that the amendments to the second superceding indictment changing the dates were ones of substance, not form; because, time was of the essence and Jordan's defense strategy was thwarted, but, perhaps worst, the indictment was extremely vague. Trial courts do not have authority to grant substantive amendments to indictments. See *Baine v. State*, 604 So. 2d 258 (Miss. 1992), *Monk v. State*, 532 So. 2d 592 (Miss. 1988), *State v. Allen*, 505 So. 2d 1024 (Miss. 1987).

"An indictment may not be amended to change the nature of charge, except by action of the grand jury which returned the indictment." *Griffin v. State*, 584 So. 2d 1274, 1275 (Miss. 1991):

It is well settled in this state ... that a change in the indictment is permissible if it does not materially alter facts which are the essence of the offense on the face of the indictment as it originally stood or materially alter a defense to the indictment as it originally stood so as to prejudice the defendant's case. 584 So. 2d at 1275-76 [cite omitted].

Morever, the objectionable amendments of the dates rendered the indictment here so vague it was impossible to determine the conduct and date of occurrence. The jury was confused by the indictment too, they sent out a note, asking what conduct was associated with what dates. [T. 1417].

In *Jones v. State*, 993 So.2d 386, 394 (¶¶18-20) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) the defendant filed a motion to quash claiming the indictment "incorrectly stated that the date of [an] alleged robbery [as] March 5, 2005, rather than February 5, 2005."

The Jones court reiterated that, claims of defective indictment are questions of law

afforded a broad standard of de novo review. Id [Citing Nguyen v. State, 761 So.2d 873, 874(¶

3) (Miss.2000) and Peterson v. State, 671 So.2d 647, 652 (Miss.1996) (superceded by statute)].

The purpose of an indictment is to advise a defendant with "some measure of certainty as to the nature of the charges" made to provide "a reasonable opportunity to prepare an effective defense." *Id.* [Citing *Moses v. State*, 795 So.2d 569, $571(\P 13)$ (Miss. Ct. App.2001)]. An indictment is required to recite "the essential facts constituting the offenses charged and shall fully notify the defendant of the nature and cause of the accusation." *Id.* [Citing URCCC 7.06].

According to UCCCR Rule 7.06 an incorrect date does not render an indictment insufficient. Under UCCCR Rule 7.09, "[a]ll indictments may be amended as to form but not as to the substance of the offense charged." An amendment cannot be material to the merits of the case and should not prejudice a defendant. *Jones*, 993 So. 2d 394 (¶20) [Citing *Eakes v. State*, 665 So.2d 852, 859-60 (Miss.1995). Unless time is of the essence to a charge, an "amendment to change the date on which the offense occurred is one of form only." *Id.* [Citing *Baine v. State*, 604 So.2d 258, 260-61 (Miss.1992).]. See also *Davis v. State*, 866 So.2d 1107, 1110 (¶ 11) (Miss. Ct. App.2003), and *Spears v. State*, 942 So.2d 772, 774 (¶ 6) (Miss.2006).

Whether a change of date is one of form or substance, depends on the facts of the case and the defendant's defense. *Leonard v. State*, 972 So.2d 24, 28 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). "[A] change in the indictment is permissible if it does not materially alter facts which are the essence of the offense on the face of the indictment as it originally stood or materially alter a defense to the indictment as it originally stood so as to prejudice the defendant's case." *Id.* [Citations omitted.]. As noted in *Caston v. State*, 949 So.2d 852, 858(¶ 14) (Miss. Ct. App.2007), a "pivotal consideration when considering the validity of an indictment on appeal, 'is whether the defendant was prejudiced in the preparation of his defense." [Quoting from *Wilson* v. State, 815 So.2d 439, 443(¶ 11) (Miss. Ct. App.2002)].

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