IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TIMOTHY W. JORDAN, GLENN E. GROSE, AND JOHNNY GROSE

APPELLANTS

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1761

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE (IN RESPONSE TO BRIEF FILED BY TIMOTHY W. JORDAN)

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT <u>ATTORNEY</u> GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

(T.655-56)

When the prosecutor inquired how many times these events occurred, Ms. Davidson answered, "Several times she could remember at least five times. Five times it happened in front of her and Tim. She said Johnny had sex with [B.J.] the least amount of times of all of them." Krystal also told Ms. Davidson "that she showed [B.J.] how to give a blow job; and she took [B.J.] and they were in the same room together; and after she showed [B.J.] how to do it, she closed [B.J.'s] mouth on Mr. Johnny's penis." (T.656)

Dr. Tanya King, a pediatrician practicing in Oxford, was accepted by the court as an expert in the field of pediatric medicine. Dr. King testified that she first examined B.J. on November 3, 2005. She obtained a medical history from Ms. Shaw and Gloria, but B.J. was too "[u]ncooperative" to give a statement. (T.711-14)

Dr. King then performed a "head to toe" examination on B.J., during which the child was "very anxious." Dr. King found inflammation in the child's genital area and well as bruising on both sides of the opening of her vagina. She elaborated that she had discovered "deep bruising, ... deeper than the labia majora ... "While B.J.'s hymen was not torn, Dr. King that "if she had any hymenal tears or tearing that ... would have

been healed." She also explained that a young girl's hymen is "somewhat protected just by the anatomy of the female because it is more recessed once they hit puberty." (T.718-22) Dr. King went on to testify that "more than 85 percent of the time, there are no physical findings on children who have been [sexually] abused." It was her "understanding" that perpetrators "often get only the corona or the very tip of the penis in and then ejaculate on the abdomen or another spot." Judging from B.J.'s demeanor and the bruising, Dr. King surmised that the last instance of abuse had occurred between three days and a week before the examination. (T.718-27)

Dr. King testified additionally that B.J.'s "anus was dilated which comes after many, many times of being penetrated by some object." This condition was "not normal, not even normal for a child who would have chronic constipation." Dr. King was certain that the injury had been caused by "repeated penetration by an object" which had occurred over a period of "[m]onths." Having performed between 200 and 300 examinations on victims of child sexual abuse, Dr. King had never seen another child with an anus so damaged. (T.723, 728)

In response to questions asked during cross-examination, the prosecutor asked Dr. King on redirect examination whether the inflammation could have been caused by diaper rash. She responded, "Considering with all the other findings, I think it definitely was healing from her sexual abuse." She also testified that to a reasonable medical certainty, her opinion was that the bruising inside the labia majora was caused by "penetration by an object, whether it be, you know, a penis or whatever." (T.743-44)

Gloria testified that during 2005, she "didn't visit" Tim and Krystal "a whole lot" because she did not approve of their excessive drinking and drug abuse. She had

seen Tim smoking marijuana, and "on one occasion they had a party" at Tim and Krystal's trailer "and they were passing something around on foil." Later that year, she visited Tim and Krystal "at Johnny Grose's trailer." Krystal's pre-adolescent son Justin, from a previous marriage, was present, along with Gloria's mother, B.J. and S.J., who was born in May 2005. Gloria was "not sure," but she thought Glenn "was in the house" too.⁵ According to her, "the baby was in the back bedroom of the trailer on the bed, and [B.J.] and Justin was just running loose everywhere. They was all in the yard." Gloria described the children as "nasty and dirty." B.J. "would have on just a shirt. Her hair never looked like it had ever been combed. Her panties were wet and nasty and a lot of times there would be poop running down her legs." She did not see Tim or Krystal prepare meals for the children; rather, Martha did so. (T.746-50)

On October 31, Gloria learned from Martha "that Tim and Kristi had been fighting and Kristi ended up in jail." Gloria and Martha then went to the residence of Tim's parents to "check on the kids." According to an agreement, Gloria took S.J. while the paternal grandparents kept B.J. A few days later, Martha brought B.J. to Gloria's house and told her that B.J. had complained of pain during urination.⁶ Upon examining B.J.'s

⁵Gloria had had a sexual relationship with Glenn, but she ended it after about a month because she "didn't like all the drugs and the alcohol." (T.749)

⁶Gloria testified that B.J. had been with Martha for approximately two days. (T.753)

vaginal area, Gloria saw that it was "red and raw." B.J. then told her "that Kristi and Tim and Glen and Johnny had hurt her." She told her grandmother "that they had hurt her with their fingers and Tim had hurt her with his dick." On several subsequent occasions, Gloria asked B.J. who had hurt her. The child always named "Kristi and Tim and Glen and Johnny." B.J. also told Gloria that she, Tim and Kristi had taken showers together, that she (B.J.) "had sucked Tim's dick," and that Johnny and Glenn had "hurt her down there" with their fingers. (T.751-54)

In the beginning of B.J.'s stay with Gloria, B.J. tried to nurture her little sister, but eventually she began displaying hostility toward her. She hit the baby in the stomach, bent her fingers backward, and said that she wanted to put S.J. "in a garbage bag and smother her." (T.755) B.J. also began acting inappropriately in other ways. She once took a frankfurter out of a bun and simulated fellatio on it. She ate and smeared her own feces. She masturbated in the presence of the meter reader. (T.761-62)

Robin Smith, a clinical social worker with an emphasis on physically and sexually abused children, was accepted by the court as an expert in this field. (T.802) Ms. Smith

⁷At that point, Gloria notified DHS, as Martha testified.

^{8&}quot;A little later," B.J. named Larry Grose as a perpetrator. (T.754)

⁹Gloria testified that she never had used such language in B.J.'s presence. (T.754)

began seeing B.J. shortly after she turned four, when she was in Gloria's custody. Gloria had reported that B.J. was angry, destructive, violent, defiant, hyperactive, disobedient, totally lacking in social skills and unable to focus. She was cruel and threatening to her little sister; she was cruel to the family dog. Desperate for attention, B.J. routinely behaved provocatively with men, even strangers. She would try to sit on their laps and rub their crotches. In Ms. Smith's words, B.J. "had no boundaries." (T.804-08) She illustrated this point with the following testimony:

[B.J.] was very likely to walk up to somebody and say, Do you want to touch my pussy or I want you to touch my pussy, or walk up to somebody and say, I want to touch your dick. I mean, that was just as likely as her to walk up to you and say, Hi. Those were the things she did.

She walked in my office the first day and I asked her where her mother was because she had been removed from her mother and she proceeded to tell me who all was in jail and I asked her why they were in jail. She spread her legs wide apart and she said, They touched me here in my pussy, and then she turned around and showed me they had touched her in her rectum too. ...

The masturbating, and we still have a problem with that. She would masturbate at school, at home, in front of people. It didn't matter. She would grab women's breasts. In fact, she's tried to grab mine. She would be very promiscuous and provocative for a four-year-old ...

(T.808-09)

Ms. Smith testified further that B.J. had touched other children inappropriately when she was at Head Start and when she was in treatment at Alliance. She had a habit of staring at people. She routinely stared at her step-grandfather while he was eating dinner. When he asked her why, she said that she wanted him to touch her.

(T.809-12)

Regarding B.J.'s eating and smearing of her feces, Ms. Smith testified that she had "never seen a child do it that wasn't sexually abused." Asked about her behavior toward S.J., Ms. Smith answered, "She hated her little sister. ... [S]he would tell you she hated her little sister. She was mean to her." B.J. also told Ms. Smith that she "wanted to cut them [S.J. and Gloria] up in little pieces and put them in a plastic bag." (T.812-14)

All of these behaviors led Ms. Smith to diagnose B.J. "with post-traumatic stress syndrome, and that's because of the abuse." She also had both the inattentive and hyperactive types Attention Deficit Hyperactive Disorder (ADHD) and reactive attchment disorder. She "had no attachment to anybody." She also suffered trichotillomania, manifested by the obsessive pulling of "hunks of hair out of her head." (T.814-16) During play therapy, Ms. Smith discovered that B.J. "didn't know how to play. She had no concept of playing." (T.829)

After Gloria reported that B.J. had been eating and smearing her own excrement, Ms. Smith "started exploring this" with the child. B.J. blurted, "Kristi has a pussy." When Ms. Smith asked, "Do you want to tell me more about that?" B.J. answered the "Glen likes to play with her pussy. Glen lists to play with Kristi's pussy. It's always Kristi and Tim. It's never mother and daddy." Ms. Smith went on to testify, "She has repeatedly told me that the people that touched her in her pussy were Kristi, Tim, Glen, Johnny, and Larry. She told me that in the beginning. She told me that just a few weeks ago." (T.830-31) On one occasion during therapy, B.J. tried to grab Mrs. Smith's breasts and screamed, "I hate Tim and Kristi." When she was asked why, she

"pointed to her vaginal area again and said that Tim, Kristi, Glen, and Johnny had touched her there, and Larry also." She repeatedly denied that her half-brother Justin had molested her. (T.835-36)

Over the next two years, B.J. was admitted to two different residential facilities for psychiatric treatment. Such commitment was virtually unheard-of for a child so young. B.J. continued to display bizarre behaviors, some of them indicating that she was experiencing flashbacks. She tried to touch her little sister's genitals. (T.836-46)

Asked about B.J.'s prognosis, Ms. Smith testified that she had a "grave concern" that the child would turn to substance abuse, that she would be promiscuous, that she would be an easy target for abuse, that she would become psychotic, and/or that she would mutilate or kill herself. (T.847-49)

Tim testified that the only time he "touched" B.J. "down there" was when he "was giving her a bath or having to wipe her tail or something like that when she had to go to the bathroom." He also said he "would never think" that Glenn or Johnny "would do something like that," i.e., sexually abuse B.J. (T.1002-03)

Glenn took the stand and admitted a history of drug and alcohol abuse. (T.1096-98) He denied having given Krystal drugs in exchange for sex; rather, he stated, "she was always wanting to have sex with me." (T.1108) He also denied having "messed with BJ in a sexual way." (T.1119)

Johnny testified that he routinely gave Krystal money, purportedly to be used to buy milk and diapers for the children. He denied having had sexual contact with B.J. (T.1244-45)

Additional facts will be set out as necessary in the following argument.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION ONE: NO ERROR HAS BEEN SHOWN IN THE COURT'S

RULINGS WITH RESPECT TO THE TESTIMONY OF

CARNELIA FONDREN

PROPOSITION TWO: TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING THE

INDICTMENT TO BE AMENDED TO CONFORM TO THE

PROOF

PROPOSITION THREE: THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING

JORDAN A SEPARATE TRIAL

PROPOSITION FOUR: THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN

APPLYING THE TENDER YEARS EXCEPTION TO THE

HEARSAY RULE

PROPOSITION FIVE: THEVERDICT IS NOT CONTRARY TO THE

OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

The trial court did not err in allowing the indictment to be amended to conform to the proof.

The trial court did not err in denying Jordan a separate trial.

The verdict was not contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

PROPOSITION ONE:

NO ERROR HAS BEEN SHOWN IN THE COURT'S RULINGS WITH RESPECT TO THE TESTIMONY OF CARNELIA FONDREN

Krystal was subjected to extensive cross-examination, apparently in part to attempt to show that her testimony was unreliable because it had been obtained as a result of a "sweetheart deal" with the prosecution. To attempt to rebut that it was

¹⁰Upon her plea of guilty, Krystal was sentenced to 20 years' imprisonment with ten years to serve and ten suspended. (T.668)

"responsible for giving this case away against Krystal Jordan in some kind of vendetta against these defendants," the state called contended that it was "entitled to present ... the true circumstances of this plea agreement" and how it was reached." To that end, the state called Krystal's counsel, Carnelia Fondren, as a witness. (T.659-61)

Counsel for Jordan objected initially on three grounds: that Ms. Fondren had not been disclosed during discovery as a witness; that her testimony would violate the attorney-client privilege; ¹¹ and that her testimony would constitute hearsay. (T.659) The prosecutor responded that he had no objection to allowing the defense to interview Ms. Fondren prior to her testifying, and that to the effect that it would embody any arguable "statement" by Krystal, it would not be hearsay, pursuant to M.R.E. 801(d)(1). ¹² The trial court allowed the defense to interview Ms. Fondren and offered to "hear any further objections" after the interview. After the defense spoke with Ms. Fondren, she was called to the stand without further objection at this point. (T.659-62)

The next objection appears at T.667, after the prosecutor asked Ms. Fondren to

¹¹Ms. Fondren testified later that Krystal had waived her attorney-client privilege with respect to Ms. Fondren's testimony at trial. (T.663)

¹²That subsection provides that a prior statement of a witness is not hearsay if it is "consistent with his testimony and is offered to rebut an express or implied charge against him of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive..."

testify about the plea negotiation. The defense objected on the ground of hearsay; the prosecutor responded that the plea negotiation did not embody a statement of fact offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, ¹³ and therefore was not hearsay. ¹⁴ The objection was overruled. (T.667)

When Ms. Fondren was asked to define her duty to determine whether her client was guilty of the charges or at least some of the charges against her, counsel for Jordan objected, but failed to state a specific ground and failed to obtain a ruling on the record. (T.668)

Additionally, when she was asked whether she had been satisfied that "there were grounds for the entry of the guilty plea," counsel for Jordan objected, but failed to put the ground(s) on the record. (T.672-73)

It is well-settled that a specific, contemporaneous objection on the record is required to preserve an issue for review. *Young v. State*, 987 So.2d 1074 (Miss. App. 2008); *Lee v. State*, 944 So.2d 56, 64 (Miss. App. 2005). Moreover, the objecting party

Your Honor, I don't think it's hearsay. We're talking about a negotiation toward reaching an agreement which was, in fact, reached and which the defense has already raised... This is a negotiation. It's not even a factual statement.

(T.667)

¹³M.R.E. 801(c).

¹⁴ The prosecutor argued specifically,

must obtain a ruling on the record. *Hobson v. State*, 730 So.2d 20 (Miss.1998). Jordan did not raise an objection on the record to improper opinion testimony. Accordingly, that issue is barred. Regarding the hearsay-based objection, we maintain the position of the prosecution at trial: the negotiations were not statements and therefore were not hearsay. To the extent any of this testimony embodied statements of a witness, they were offered to rebut an express or implied charge of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive and therefore were not barred by the hearsay rule. *Hendrix v. State*, 957 So.2d 1023 (Miss. App. 2007), citing *Caston v. State*, 823 So.2d 473, 489 (Miss. 2002).

The state submits that Jordan has failed to show error with respect to the court's rulings on the objections to Ms. Fondren's testimony. Moreover, the motion for mistrial made after Ms. Fondren had left the stand was untimely and therefore properly overruled. *Williams v. State*, 919 So.2d 250, 254 (Miss. App. 2005). For these reasons, Jordan's first proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION TWO:

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING THE INDICTMENT TO BE AMENDED TO CONFORM TO THE PROOF

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